
PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD 
REGULAR MEETING 

August 04, 2005 – 6:00 P.M. 
Hardee County Board of County Commissioners Board Room 

412 W. Orange Street, Courthouse Annex, Room 102, Wauchula, FL 33873 
 

MINUTES 
 
Planning and Zoning Board    Staff 
James Barncord, present    B/Z Director, T. Mike Cassidy, present 
Don Chancey, absent     County Manager, Lex Albritton, absent 
Roger Conley, Chairman, present   County Attorney, Ken Evers, absent 
Dan Graham, present     B/Z Office Manager, B.J. Haney, present 
Charles Nicholson, Vice-Chairman, excused  B/Z Executive Asst., Donna Black, excused 
Carl Saunders, present 
Fred Small, excused 
Vida Tomlinson, present 
Max Ullrich, present     A rep from The Herald-Advocate was present 
 
In the absence of the Chairman and Vice Chairman MOTION by Board Member Saunders, 
second by Board Member Graham to appoint Board Member Tomlinson as Acting Chairman. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Acting Chairman Tomlinson called the Regular Meeting to order at 6:00 P.M. A quorum was 
present. 
 
B/Z Office Manager Haney advised the Public Notice for the Regular Meeting was published in 
The Herald-Advocate on July 21, and July 28, 2005 and Affidavit of Publication is on file. 
 
Building/Zoning Director Cassidy advised courtesy notices were mailed to adjoining property 
owners and all advertisements/public notices were properly posted. 
 
Tomlinson read the Planning and Zoning Board’s General Rules of Procedure. 
 
B.J. Haney, as a Notary Public, State of Florida, administered the oath to those offering testi-
mony. 
 
MOTION by Saunders, second by Graham to approve Minutes of Planning and Zoning Board 
July 07, 2005 Regular Meeting. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Chairman Conley arrived at the meeting. 
 
Agenda 05-25 
 
Conley advised of a request from Moonlight Ranch LLC by and through its Authorized 
Representative for a Rezone of 34.74MOL acres from A-1 (Agriculture) to F-R (Farm-
Residential) for the planned unit development of single-family dwellings on lots no-less-than-2.5-
acres-in-size. 
 
Each Board Member and County Staff received a copy of Application for Rezone containing the 
Staff Report for review prior to the 08/0405 meeting. 
 
Cassidy highlighted the Rezone Staff Report including the conclusion, and recommendation for 
approval. Cassidy submitted the Staff Report to record as evidence, no objections were 
presented. 
 
Scott Brewer, 2951 63rd Avenue E., Bradenton, FL 34203, Authorized Representative for Moon-
light Ranch LLC was present and sworn. 
 
 
 
 



HARDEE COUNTY 
PLANNING and ZONING BOARD   -2-               08/04/05 
MINUTES 
 
Board reviewed the Rezone request. 
 
Tomlinson called for public input. 
 
Lynn Barlow, 2889 Merle Langford Rd., Zolfo Springs, FL 33890 was present and sworn.  
 
Barlow expressed his opposition to the rezoning and stated that this area is agricultural land and 
with the lowland area and with the way the natural stream runs through the property, putting in a 
greater density of housing is not practical 
 
Grady Johnson, 2696 Merle Langford Rd., Zolfo Springs, FL 33890 was present and sworn. 
 
Johnson expressed his opposition to the rezoning and stated that: 
 with the path of the natural creek, he could not envision houses on 2.5-acre lots in an ag 
 area; 
 there are two ag businesses nearby and the Sheriff’s Office’s telephone will be ringing 
 off the hook with the new land owners complaining about the ag businesses. 
 
Johnson requested the Board keep the current zoning of one single-family dwelling per 5-acre-
parcel. 
 
Board inquired about the creek, and Cassidy reported that at the time of development, the 
developer will be required to submit to the Building/Zoning Department a permit or sign-off 
demonstrating compliance with Southwest Florida Water Management District and Florida 
Department of Environmental Protection regulations. 
 
Wayne Lambert, Sunshine Foliage, 2060 Steve Roberts Special, Zolfo Springs, FL was present 
and sworn. 
 
Lambert expressed his opposition to the rezoning and advised: 
 we have been there for 27 years; 
 the business employs 50-60 people full time, year-round; 
 we do not plan to leave; 
 this is a farming community; 
 that smaller lots for more housing is not good. 
 
There was discussion regarding the drainage of the surrounding lands and the problems with 
summer rains resulting in flooding on Bailes Rd. 
 
Board inquired and Brewer advised that: 
 2.5-acre-lots are more attractive and the developers are looking to develop parcels 
 larger than 1.0 acre in size; 
 the developer has a successful project on Painter Rd with lots larger than 1.0 acre; 
 the development will have covenants and restrictions; 
 the developer plans to use the public road frontage that is there. 
 
Brewer advised that the project will comply with SWFWMD requirements. 
 
There was discussion regarding spot zoning and upon the Board’s inquiry Cassidy pointed out 
that Farm-Residential is intended to be a transitional zoning district to Agriculture. 
 
Margaret Dunaway, 5175 Sweetwater Rd., Zolfo Springs, FL 33890 was present and sworn. 
Dunaway addressed the Board representing D&S Cattle Co., 2167 St Rd 66, Zolfo Springs, FL 
33890. 
 
 
 
 



HARDEE COUNTY 
PLANNING and ZONING BOARD   -3-               08/04/05 
MINUTES 
 
Dunaway explained: 
 the cattle company has been there for 30 years; 
 it is not a quiet operation and there are some smells; 
 this is an ag community and the neighbors there have to understand this. 
 
Dunaway opposed the rezoning for single-family dwellings on less than 5-acre-parcels. 
 
Brewer advised that the proposed project could possibly work with a 5-acre-lot and a 9.74-lot 
from the Bailes Rd. parcel; and 5-acre-lots from the Merle Langford Rd. parcel. 
 
Brewer requested the application for rezoning be withdrawn. 
 
Tomlinson advised that Brewer had withdrawn the application for Agenda No. 05-25 for the 
requested rezoning of 34.74MOL acres from A-1 to F-R. 
 
The Board accepted the withdrawal without prejudice. 
 
Agenda 05-26 
 
Conley advised of a request from Cole/Erlene Ward by and through their Authorized 
Representative for a Rezone of 11MOL acres from R-2 (Two-Family Residential) to R-3 
(Multiple-Family Residential) for the planned unit development of an affordable housing 
complex. 
 
Each Board Member and County Staff received a copy of Application for Rezone containing the 
Staff Report for review prior to the 08/0405 meeting. 
 
Board was advised the Recreation and Open Space Element as contained on Page Two of 
the Staff Report should read: The Recreation and Open Space Element of the “Comp Plan” is 
not applicable for the Highway Mixed Use Future Land Use category. 
 
Board accepted the amendment to the Staff Report. 
 
Cassidy highlighted the Rezone Staff Report including the conclusion, and recommendation for 
approval. Cassidy submitted the Staff Report to record as evidence, no objections were 
presented. 
 
Gene Strickland, 3815 Emerald Terrace, Lakeland, FL 33813, Authorized Representative for 
Cole/Erlene Ward was present and sworn. 
 
Board reviewed the Rezone request. 
 
Strickland advised the proposed project: 
 is not adjacent to single-family dwellings; 
 will be similar to the Country Manor complex on St Rd 62; 
 will meet some of the County’s affordable housing needs. 
 
Strickland noted that although the Future Land Use Category of Highway Mixed Use will allow a 
maximum of 12 dwelling units per gross acre, the proposed project will probably develop 110 
living units. 
 
Board inquired as to who or what determines that Hardee County needs affordable housing? 
 
Strickland advised that market studies have shown the need for affordable housing in Hardee 
County and in Florida; the recent hurricanes have displaced many families who are living in 
FEMA trailers; the time is fast-approaching that FEMA will remove those trailers and the families 
will need a place to live. 
 



HARDEE COUNTY 
PLANNING and ZONING BOARD   -4-               08/04/05 
MINUTES 
 
Strickland pointed out that even with Hardee County’s rezoning approval, with the number of 
applications submitted to the Florida Housing Finance Corporation, the chances of this project 
being funded is probably only 15%-20%. 
 
The Board was advised that the specifics, (e.g. landscaping, parking, road improvements, 
drainage, utilities) for the development will be addressed in the Site Development Plan. 
 
Chairman called for public input. 
 
Ryan Roehm, 249 Maxwell Drive, Wauchula, FL 33873 was present and sworn. 
 
Roehm advised of his concerns for rezoning the parcel to multiple-family residential and stated 
that his residence is catty-corner from the proposed project with a long driveway that is 
oftentimes mistaken for a jogging lane. 
 
Roehm expressed concern: 
 for increased traffic on Maxwell Rd with the proposed addition of 100 plus or minus 
 families; 
 that people would be parking tractor trucks and trailers on his property; 
 increase in joggers looking for a jogging lane; 
 for establishing an affordable housing complex near a Kindergarten-Eighth grade school. 
 
Roehm pointed out that he would not be opposed to single-family dwellings on this parcel. 
 
Board was advised that R-3 zoning will allow up to 12 dwelling units per acre, this area is 
located in the Enterprise Zone that has been tagged by the State as an area for growth and 
development. Board was advised that any development on Maxwell Rd. will be reviewed by the 
Hardee County Public Works Dept. 
 
Tomlinson read into the record a letter dated 08/01/05 from George/Norma McNary pertaining to 
the rezoning item and citing some critical development issues that must be addressed before 
the development is approved. (Letter on file). 
 
MOTION by Saunders, second by Graham to recommend approval to the Board of County 
Commissioners the request for Rezone of 11MOL acres from R-2 (Two-Family Residential) to 
R-3 (Multiple-Family Residential) for the planned unit development of an affordable housing 
complex based on the regulations as contained in the Hardee County Unified Land Develop-
ment Code pertaining to rezoning, based staff’s findings, corrected staff report, conclusion, and 
recommendation for approval, and based on the testimony received and the evidence presented 
at the public hearing. Motion carried with Ullrich voting NO. 
 
Tomlinson advised the County Commissioners will receive a recommendation from the P/Z 
Board and hold a public hearing on Thursday, August 25, 2005, 8:35 A.M. 
 
With no further business to come before the Board, the meeting was adjourned at 7:11 P.M. 
 
Next regular Planning/Zoning Meeting is scheduled for Thursday, September 01, 2005, 6:00 
P.M. Hardee County Board of County Commissioners Board Room, 412 W. Orange Street, 
Courthouse Annex, Room 102, Wauchula, Florida 33873. 
 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
B.J. Haney 
B/Z Office Manager, Acting Recording Secretary 
 
 
My Documents\Plan&Zon\MINUTES\080405.doc 


